017

FILED SID J. WHITE

AUC 16 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

DAVID LASALA,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA.

Respondent.

CASE NO: 81,996 4TH DCA NO: 92-0330

Drigual

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA CERTIFYING QUESTIONS TO BE OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF DAVID LASALA

LAW OFFICES OF RICHARD L. ROSENBAUM ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER ONE EAST BROWARD BLVD.
PENTHOUSE - BARNETT BANK PLAZA FT. LAUDERDALE, FL 33301
FLA. BAR NO: 394688

LAW OFFICES OF RHONDA ROGERS, P.A. ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER 4601 SHERIDAN STREET, 5TH FLOOR HOLLYWOOD, FL 33021 FLA. BAR NO: 453902

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols, abbreviations and references will be utilized throughout this Initial Brief on the Merits of Petitioner, DAVID LASALA:

The term "Petitioner" or "Defendant" shall refer to the Defendant in the County Court below, DAVID LASALA.

The term "Respondent" shall refer to the prosecution in the County Court below, the State of Florida.

Citations to the pleadings filed at the trial court level contained with the Record on Appeal lodged in the District Court of Appeal, Fourth District, together with transcripts of the hearings conducted below, the decision issued by the Fourth District and the Order on Motion for Certification, contained within page 1 - 211 of the Appendix to Initial Brief on the Merits shall be designated by an "A" followed by the appropriate page number (A).

All emphasis in this Petitioner's Brief on the Merits have been supplied by undersigned counsel unless otherwise specified.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

Petitioner, DAVID LASALA, was arrested and subsequently charged by Information with the offense of driving under the influence. (A 1-3) DAVID LASALA filed a Motion to Suppress and to inter alia, exclude breath test results based upon, unconstitutional vaqueness of HRS Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024 based upon the lack of reliability of the testing procedures and the standard establishing the zones of intoxication levels. Petitioner contended that Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024 of the Florida Administrative Code in effect prior to August 1, 1991 were void for vagueness, that the testing procedures and standards violated their constitutional rights to equal protection under the law, and that the HRS rules effective August 1, 1991 should not be applied retroactively. The Defendant further asserted that the Rules did not provide a sufficient predicate for the introduction of breath test results, therefore rendering the statutory presumption of impairment inapplicable. (A 4-30)

The State of Florida filed a Response to Appellant's Motion, and stated that any infirmities in the Rules in existence at the time of the Petitioner's arrest were cured by the August 1, 1992 amendment of the Rules because the latter Rules could be applied retroactively. (A 32-33)

An en banc evidentiary hearing was conducted in front of the Honorable Susan Lebow, June L. Johnson, Leonard Feiner and Ronald Rothschild, County Court Judges in Broward County, Florida on July

12, 1991. (A 40-140) Testimony was elicited in the hearing from defense expert Ira D. Karmelin and from State expert Deputy David E. Fries.

Ira Karmelin, a certified breathalyzer technician was accepted by the court as an expert with respect to DUI and the Intoxilyzer machine. (A 101-102) Mr. Karmelin is certified by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, (hereinafter referred to as "HRS") as a maintenance technician, and is likewise certified by the manufacturer of the Intoxilyzer 5000, CNI, Inc., to repair the instrument. (A 104) The expert had run over 1000 breath tests in his career, and had been previously qualified as an expert regarding the Intoxilyzer 5000 on over 300 occasions. (A 107-108) Mr. Karmelin lectures with regard to the machine, and has worked as an expert in this area for both the defense and the prosecution. (A 107)

Mr. Karmelin testified that no accuracy standards were in existence with respect to the measurements on the Intoxilyzer 5000 machine anywhere in the HRS rules or regulations prior to August 1, 1991. (A 109) Mr. Karmelin testified that the only definition of "accuracy" concerning breath testing at the time was contained within HRS Rule 10D-42.022(b), which dealt with "systematic error" which is defined in the statute as being "the difference between the means and the measured value and a known value as well as the percentage of the known value." (A 110) Mr. Karmelin likewise testified that the Form 1514/1982 which were utilized for the Intoxilyzer 5000 had no way to measure an error factor. No

specifications were in existence as to what concentration would be used to determine accuracy. There is "nothing in the rules to guide them." (A 117-118) The previous rules never provided for the number of alcohol standard tests to be conducted, nor the concentration levels at which the tests should be performed. (A 110-111) The expert testified that the new form effective in August, 1991 proposed monthly maintenance tolerance factors at .10 and .20, plus or minus five percent. (A 113) The expert also testified that the data sheets utilized to test the Intoxilyzer 5000 were never brought before the HRS and tested pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act, nor were they the subject of a public hearing. (A 109)

Deputy David Fries of the Broward County Sheriff's Office testified on behalf of the State. (A 52-98) Deputy Fries acknowledged that in 1982, HRS promulgated Form 1514 to be filled out as part of the monthly maintenance procedure when a breath test machine is examined. (A 60) Deputy Fries stated that the form requires an inspector to run "three tests on a known solution", as well as check the lights, appearance, etc. of the machine. (A 60-61)

Deputy Fries testified that breathalyzer technicians are required to take a 40 hour course on how to fill out the Form 1514. (A 63-64) Fries testified that "accuracy" refers to the value of simulators, and the number of each value which would be used in tests. (A 64)

Deputy Fries admitted that Form 1514 does not set out

instructions on how to fill blanks relative to lights and digital display, temperature equilibrium, carrier test pressure, standard test, blank test, alcohol standard test, standard concentration or mix, and general appearance. (A 90-95) Finally, the State expert could not explain why on the annual maintenance data sheet an error factor at .10 was 5% while an error factor at .05 was 10%. (A 87)

Ira Karmelin testified that no accuracy standards were in existence in the Rules on the maintenance of breathalyzers. (A 78-80) Mr. Karmelin testified that the definition of "accuracy" given in the Rules for Breath Tests refers to "systematic error" or "getting an average and making sure that you are within the tolerance of that". (A 80)

On January 27, 1992, the trial court entered a written Order granting DAVID LASALA'S Motion to Suppress Breath Test Results. (A 34-37) In so doing, the court made several findings of fact which led the court to hold that HRS Rules 10-D42.023 and 10D-42.024 are "unconstitutionally vague, and thus void." (A. 35)

The court's factual findings were as follows:

- 1) Florida Statute 322.261(2)(a) mandates the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services to promulgate rules and regulations "after public hearing" to insure the accuracy and reliability of breath testing equipment.
- 2) HRS properly adopted Rule 10D-42.022 which provides specific definitions for accuracy, precision and reproducability for a breath testing instrument being initially tested and certified for use in Florida.
- 3) Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024, prior to amendment, do not contain definitions for accuracy, precision or reliability relating to monthly or yearly maintenance.

- 4) From September, 1982 until February, 1986, HRS provided all police departments in Florida involved breath testing with in 1514/September 1982". This form was incorporated by reference in Rule 10D-42.024(5)(b).
- 5) Since February of 1986 different forms reflecting maintenance procedures for breath testing instruments have been used throughout the State of Florida. None of these forms have been properly promulgated or adopted after public hearing as required by Florida Statute 316.1932(1)(F)(1).
- 6) All the 1986 forms submitted in evidence differ substantially from the promulgated 1982 forms by the inclusion of a test for acetone.
- 7) The instruments used to test the defendants' breaths were not tested or maintained using the original form.

(A 34-35)

Likewise, the court concluded that the:

Procedures utilized subsequent to February 1986 in attempting to conform with the former HRS Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024 were not uniformly applied to all persons arrested who submitted to breath testing and so are in violation of their right to equal protection under the law.

(A 35-36) [emphasis in original].

With regard to the State's argument concerning the retroactivity of the HRS rules as amended on July 31, 1991, the Court noted:

The rules regarding testing and maintenance of the breath testing equipment reflected on the original "Form 1514/September 1982" on the various February 1986 forms and as testified to by the two experts vary substantially from the rules effective August 1, 1991. The rules now require a simulator test at .05% level which is a much lower alcohol concentration. The more significant change is the requirement of calculating the arithmetic average of three acetone test readings. Defense counsel demonstrated that an instrument that previously passed inspection after acetone testing could fail under the new standards.

(A 37)

After concluding that the HRS rules were procedural rather than substantive, the court below stated:

Rules and regulations of a governmental agency may be applied only prospectively unless the legislature specifically granted the power and authority to HRS to make the rules and regulations apply retroactively.

(A 37)

Accordingly, DAVID LASALA'S Motion to Suppress Breath Test Results was granted. (A 35-37)

In the trial court's order granting Petitioner's Motion to Suppress, the following three questions were certified as being of great public importance:

- I) Are Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024 of the Florida Administrative Code in effect prior to August 1, 1991 void for vagueness, and, if so, does this preclude the State's use of the result of the breath testing instruments in a criminal trial?
- II) Is the use of different forms reflecting different monthly maintenance procedures to test breathing equipment a denial of equal protection, and, if so, does this preclude the State's use of the results from the breath testing instruments in a criminal trial?
- III) Should Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024 effective August 1, 1991, be applied retroactively?

On appeal to the Fourth District of Appeal, a three judge panel reversed the suppression order entered below, remanding the

case to the trial court based upon <u>State v. Rochelle</u>, 609 So. 2d 615 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). (A 213) Thereafter, DAVID LASALA'S Motion for Certification was granted and the Fourth District certified as questions of great public importance those certified in <u>State v. Nevadomski</u>, ___ So. 2d ___ (Fla. 4th DCA June 9, 1993) [18 Fla. L. Weekly D1411]. (A 214)

In <u>Nevadomski</u>, the court certified the following four questions¹:

- A) Are Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024, Florida Administrative Code, as they existed prior to August 1, 1991, void for vagueness?
- B) If so, does this preclude the State's use of test results obtained on breath testing machines maintained pursuant to those rules in a criminal trial?
- C) Is the use the use of different (not uniform) forms, reflecting differently monthly maintenance procedures for breath testing equipment, a denial of equal protection?
- D) If so, does this preclude the State's use of test results from the breath testing instruments so tested in a criminal trial?

The Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Review.

This appeal ensues.

¹Judge Hursey dissented from the order on certification without an opinion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The suppression order entered below was factually supported by the Record and was correctly based upon <u>State v. Reisner</u>, 584 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 5th DCA), reviewed denied 581 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 1991). Accordingly, each of the certified questions should be answered in the affirmative.

The trial court properly suppressed the breath test evidence at bar based upon factual findings. The factual findings were supported by the expert testimony elicited at trial.

The trial court correctly suppressed the breath test evidence based upon a factual finding that HRS Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024 as they existed prior to August 1, 1991 are void for vaqueness. As an additional ground, the Court suppressed the breath test evidence finding that the use of different (nonuniform) forms reflecting different monthly maintenance procedures constituted a denial of equal protection. Because the forms were void for vagueness and violated the equal protection clauses of the United States and Florida Constitution, the trial court correctly precluded the State from using the test results at trial. Alternatively, the Petitioner asserts that this Honorable Court should decline to answer the second and fourth certified questions in that the State of Florida failed to present evidence establishing how a traditional predicate could be laid for admission of the scientific evidence.

The Petitioner asserts that Form 1514 was never properly

promulgated prior to August, 1991. Form 1514 did not direct the maintenance operator to perform a standard test at either the .05, .10, or .20 blood alcohol levels. Based upon the Rule's failure to assure accuracy in testing, as well as inconsistencies in the form and its application, the trial court correctly suppressed the breath test evidence at bar.

ARGUMENT I

THE ORDER SUPPRESSING BREATH TEST EVIDENCE WAS FACTUALLY SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD AND CORRECTLY BASED UPON STATE v. REISNER; EACH OF THE CERTIFIED QUESTIONS SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE

The trial court's order entered by the Honorable Susan Lebow suppressing evidence of breath test results was proper based upon factual findings supported in the Record and should be upheld. The court relied upon <u>State v. Reisner</u>, 584 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), review denied 591 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 1991), requiring this Court to reverse the opinion entered by the Fourth District below and affirm the suppression order.

In certifying four questions below as being of great public importance, the Fourth District relied upon its decision in <u>State v. Rochelle</u>, 609 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) in reversing the trial court's determination. In <u>Rochelle</u> the same panel that decided <u>State v. Carino</u> and <u>State v. Rushing</u> below, reversed Judge Lebow's suppression order finding that the rules governing methods of maintaining and testing equipment used to determine blood alcohol content were not void for vagueness during the time that the variant form rather than the promulgated form for checking equipment was used in Broward County, and that the use of different forms for such equipment testing in different parts of the State was not discriminatory so as to violate the equal protection clause. <u>Rochelle</u> at 615-616.

Although the Fourth District acknowledged that it reached a

"seeming contrary conclusion" as that in <u>Reisner</u>, in actuality the <u>Reisner</u> court correctly held that the original form 1514 incorporated Rule 10D-42.024, the rule adopted pursuant to Section 316.1932(1)(f)(1) to govern monthly and annual testing of intoxilyzer equipment for accuracy and reproducability, holding the same sufficient. As stated in <u>Rochelle</u>, the <u>Reisner</u> court found

"... that since the rule without the promulgated form could not pass constitutional muster, and since the unpromulgated form could not be considered to be part of the rule, the blood alcohol test results obtained with the machine whose accuracy and reproducability had been checked using the new form were properly excluded."

Rochelle at 616

In <u>Reisner</u>, no testimony was presented by either side. Both sides only made legal argument. Below both sides <u>did</u> present expert testimony. However, the trial judge, as the finder and interpreter of fact found that the

"unpromulgated rules are not acceptable for the purpose of supplementing or substituting for appropriately adopted rules. See <u>State v.</u> Reisner, 16 Fla. L. Weekly D2094 (5th DCA August 8, 1991); State Board of Optometry v. Florida Society of Ophthalmology, 538 So. 2d 878 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988), review denied 548 So. 2d 1333 (Fla. 1989); <u>Department</u> of Blackhawk Quarry Co. of <u>Transportation v.</u> Florida, Inc., 528 So. 2d 447 (Fla. 5th DCA), reviewed denied 536 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 1988); Balsann v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 452 So. 2d 976 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); McCarthy v. Department of Insurance and Treasury, 479 So. 2d 135 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985)."

(A 35)

Accordingly, the trial court, based upon Reisner, held that

former HRS Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024 were unconstitutionally vague and void and that "based upon the testimony and evidence produced at the hearing" the court concluded that the procedures utilized subsequent to February, 1986 in attempting to conform with the former rules were not <u>uniformly applied</u> to all persons arrested who submitted to breath testing and so are in violation of their right to equal protection under the law. (A 35) [Emphasis in original]

As of the filing of this brief, the Petitioner is aware of conflicting decisions from three district courts of appeal on the issues raised.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Reisner</u> and <u>State v. Hoff</u>, 591 So. 2d 648 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991) support Petitioner's argument for affirmance of the trial court's suppression order.

Since the <u>Reisner</u> opinion, the Second and Fourth District Court of Appeals have adopted a conflicting position. In <u>State v.</u> Berger, 605 So. 2d 488 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992) the Second District disagreed with <u>Reisner</u> and held that the rules regulating alcohol breath testing and the procedures used sufficiently ensured the reliability of the tests. <u>Berger</u> at 489. The <u>Berger</u> court held that the county court had subject matter jurisdiction over the challenge to the rules. The questions certified as being of great public importance in <u>Berger</u>, while similar to those presented <u>subjudice</u>, are not identical. <u>Id</u>.

The Second District continues to follow Berger despite its

conflict with <u>Reisner</u>. Recently, in <u>State v. Folsom, et al</u>, ______ So. 2d _____ (Fla. 2nd DCA July 23, 1993) [18 Fla. L. Weekly D1646] the Second District followed <u>Berger</u> and certified three "somewhat different" questions to the Florida Supreme Court. <u>Id</u>. The Court distinguished <u>Folsom</u> and <u>Berger</u> from <u>Reisner</u> factually, stating

We are not certifying conflict with <u>Reisner</u> because, although we are reaching a contrary conclusion, the result in <u>Reisner</u> may be explained by the fact that the State failed to present any evidence to support its position. In <u>Berger</u> and the instant cases the State presented extensive expert testimony regarding the rules relating to breath testing, the periodic inspection procedures, and the forms used when testing the equipment.

Id. at D1647 n. 5

Below, the trial court was in the best position to assess and analyze the expert testimony. It is clear from the trial court's suppression order that based upon the facts presented the trial court's findings clearly supported the suppression order.

A) The Trial Court Properly Suppressed Breath Test Evidence Based Upon Specific Factual Findings

The trial court's Order suppressing breath test results entered below was not erroneous, and must be upheld. The suppression order was based upon the court's factual findings that the HRS rules are unconstitutionally vague. In addition, the trial court determined that admission of the breath test results would violate the Petitioner's constitutional rights to equal protection under the law, thereby properly suppressing the breath test results pretrial. (A 35-36) The lower court noted that the HRS rules

regarding the testing and maintenance and breath testing equipment varied substantially from the rules which went into effect on August 1, 1991, stating "defense counsel demonstrated that an instrument that previously passed inspection after acetone testing could fail under the new standards." (A 35) The newly adopted Rules were thus not permitted to be applied retroactively. The Petitioner's breath test results were riddled with constitutional infringements, requiring suppression.

The Petitioner asserts from the outset of this Appeal that the trial court's suppression Order was based upon several theories, including 1) HRS Rules 10D-42.023 and 10D-42.024 are void for vagueness, precluding the State from introducing the breath test results in a criminal proceeding; 2) the State's failure to use uniform Intoxilyzer maintenance procedure forms, and 3) the lack of standards to establish accuracy violated the Defendant's right to equal protection under the law; and 3) the Rules adopted on August 1, 1991, should not be applied retroactively.

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