IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 81,996

DAVID LASALA,

SID J. WHITE

Petitioner,

OCT 6 1993

v.

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Chief Deputy Clerk

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

Joan Fowler Assistant Attorney General

James J. Carney
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar no. 475246
Assistant Attorney General
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd.
Suite 300
West Palm Beach, FL 33401

Counsel for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I

The Fourth District did not reweigh the evidence in this case. It simply disagreed with the county court's legal conclusions. Respondent does not agree that the county court had jurisdiction. Petitioner has failed to exhaust his administrative remedies.

The void for vagueness doctrine is inapplicable where the issue is the adequacy of administrative rules to give guidance to professionals testing equipment used for blood-alcohol testing for evidentiary purposes. Assuming the doctrine has some applicability, the rules, with accompanying forms, are sufficiently specific.

There is also no equal protection violation. As recognized in Rochelle v. State, 609 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), the did not vary substantially from the adopted form. forms Accordingly, the different form was not discriminatory. Additionally, assuming that the reliability of the results from the different procedures were questionable, respondent has not shown how he was adversely affected. Id. at 617. As held by the Fourth District, one cannot claim discriminatory treatment if one was not treated unfairly, merely because it is possible someone was unfairly treated. Id. at 618.

ΙI

Even if the Rules are void for vagueness and/or violate due process, the results are admissible if the State can lay the traditional predicate.

POINT I

THE FOURTH DISTRICT CORRECTLY REVERSED THE ORDER SUPPRESSING THE BREATH TESTS. THE CERTIFIED QUESTIONS SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE NEGATIVE.

A) The Trial Court Erred in Suppressing The Breath Test Results As Its Legal Conclusions Were Incorrect.

Petitioner first. suggests that the Fourth District improperly ignored the trial court's factual findings determining that the Rules were not void for vagueness. This is incorrect. The Fourth District's decision did not reweigh the evidence. It was based on legal conclusions from the evidence presented.

Moreover, when an appellate court reviews the validity of a rule after a trial court has found it to be unconstitutional, the rule is favored with a presumption of constitutionality. Caldwell's Estate, 247 So. 2d 1,3 (Fla. 1971) See also Gardner v. Johnson, 4512 So.2d 477, 479 (Fla. 1984); Department of Legal Aff. v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel, 434 So.2d 879, 881 (Fla. 1983). In other words, every presumption must be indulged in favor of the validity of the rule. Department of Law Enf. v. Real 588 So.2d 957, 961 (Fla. 1991); Florida Citrus Commission v. Golden Gift, 91 So.2d 657, 658 (Fla. 1956). rule may reasonably be construed in more than one way, an appellate court has a duty to adopt the interpretation which upholds the constitutionality of the rule. Vildibill v. Johnson, 492 So.2d 1047, 1050 (Fla. 1986); Department of Ins. v. Southeast Volusia Hosp. Dist., 438 So.2d 815, 820 (Fla. 1983); Hill v.

State, 238 So.2d 608, 611 (Fla. 1970); Holley v. Adams, 238 So.2d 401, 404 (Fla. 1970).

Respondent also does not agree with petitioner's suggestion that the County Court had subject matter jurisdiction. "Subject matter jurisdiction . . . is a power that arises solely by virtue of the law." Florida Export Tobacco Co. v. Department of Revenue, 510 So.2d 936, 943 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987) (citation omitted). "[S]ubject matter jurisdiction has its origin only in the statutes or constitutions." Steckel v. Blafas, 549 So.2d 1211, 1213 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (citation omitted).

The county courts are not vested with jurisdiction to entertain direct challenges to administrative rules by any constitutional provision. Article V, Section 6(b), Florida Constitution, provides:

Jurisdiction - The county courts shall exercise the jurisdiction prescribed by general law. Such jurisdiction shall be uniform throughout the state.

See also Article V, Section 20(c)(4), Florida Constitution.

No statute invests the county courts with subject matter jurisdiction to entertain attacks upon administrative rules. See the Administrative Procedure Act (A.P.A), chapter 120, Fla. Stat. (1989). The higher courts, on the other hand, are both constitutionally and statutorily invested with jurisdiction to consider in initio challenges to administrative rules and/or to review administrative actions.

Only the circuit courts have jurisdiction to initially entertain a direct attack on an administrative rule. Section 120.730, Florida Statutes, reads:

Circuit court proceedings; declaratory judgments-Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to repeal any provisions of the Florida Statutes which grants right to a proceeding in the in circuit court lieu of administrative hearing or to divest the circuit courts of jurisdiction render declaratory judgments under the provisions of chapter 86.

And, the state constitution provides:

Circuit courts. -

Jurisdiction - the circuit courts (b) shall have original jurisdiction not vested in the county courts, jurisdiction of appeals when provided by general law. They shall have the power to issue writs of mandamus, quo warranto, certiorari, prohibition, and habeas corpus, and all writs necessary or proper to the complete exercise of their jurisdiction. Jurisdiction of the circuit court shall be uniform throughout the state. They shall have power of direct review by administrative action prescribed law.

Article V, Florida Constitution; <u>See also</u> Article V, Section 20(c)(3), Florida Constitution.

Article V, Sections 3b and 4b, Florida Constitution, gives the district courts of appeal and the Florida Supreme Court the authority to hear appeals from orders entered in regard to agency actions as prescribed by general law. Under the A.P.A., judicial review of rules is delegated as follows:

Except in matters for which judicial review by the Supreme Court is provided by law, all proceedings for review shall be instituted by filing a petition in the district court of appeal in the appellate district court where the agency maintains its headquarters or where a party resides.

Section 120.68(2), Florida Statutes.

Moreover, there simply was no due process requirement that the defendant be allowed to challenge the H.R.S. rules before the county court. "The fundamental requirements of due process are satisfied by reasonable opportunity to be heard." Florida Public Service Commission v. Tripple "A" Enterprises, Inc., 387 So.2d 940, 943 (Fla. 1980) (citations omitted); See also Fuentes v. Shevin, 407 U.S. 67, 80, 92 S.Ct. 1983, 1994, 32 L.Ed.2d 556 (1972); Zimmermon v. Burch, 494 U.S. 113, 110 S.Ct. 975, 964, 108 L.Ed.2d 100 (1990). The defendant had a reasonable opportunity heard through the administrative rulemaking process. to be Although due process guarantees the defendants a right to have their claims heard, it does not guarantee a particular forum. "[D]ue process is met if one adequate method of judicial review of the orders of administrative agencies is set up . . . such methods may be made exclusive by statute." Bath Club, Inc. v. Dade County, 394 So.2d 110, 113-114 (Fla. 1981) (citations omitted).

Cumming, 365 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1978) implicitly recognized the county court's authority to determine the constitutionality of administrative rules used to prosecute criminal cases over which it has jurisdiction. Petitioner urges that Respondent had no choice but to focus on what he alleges to be the court's implication, since the court never was asked to address the county court's jurisdiction over the validity of the rules. In its discussion of the case, the court noted the State's arguments as bearing only on the merits. Id. at 154-156.

the Fifth Contrary to the contention of Respondent, District did not rule in State v. Reisner, 584 So.2d 141 (Fla. DCA 1991) that the county court had subject matter direct challenge the jurisdiction to entertain а administrative rules of the Department of Health & Rehabilitative Jurisdiction was not at issue; the court Services (H.R.S.). simply rejected the State's argument that Reisner was required to exhaust administrative remedies. Id. Subject matter jurisdiction and exhaustion of administrative remedies are two distinct, albeit related, issues:

[T]he companion doctrines of primary jurisdiction and exhaustion of remedies require <u>circuit courts</u> to abstain from exercising their equitable jurisdiction over administrative proceedings where adequate administrative remedies have not have exhausted.

Florida Board of Regents v. Armesto, 563 So.2d 1080, 1081 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(emphasis added)

The county courts, unlike the circuit courts, are without subject matter jurisdiction to entertain direct challenges to the administrative rules of The Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services (H.R.S.) because they do not have the equitable jurisdiction given the circuit courts in \$120.73, Florida Statutes (1989). It bears reemphasizing that challenges below were direct attacks on the validity of the administrative rules as opposed to a claim that law enforcement officers did not substantially comply with the rules and related The county court had jurisdiction to consider claims statutes. that there was no substantial compliance by law enforcement with H.R.S. Rules and related statutes. <u>See State v. Bender</u>, 382 So.2d 697 (Fla. 1980); <u>State v. Donaldson</u>, 579 So.2d 728 (Fla. 1991).

Section 316.1934(2), Florida Statutes, provides certain evidentiary presumptions as to "the results of any [breath] test administered in accordance with s.316.1932 . . . and this section shall be admissible into evidence when otherwise admissible . . " (emphasis supplied). Section 316.1932, Florida Statutes, provides in material part:

316.1932 Breath, blood, and urine tests for alcohol, chemical substances, or controlled substances; implied consent; right to refuse.

(1)(a) . . .

An analysis of a person's breath, in order to be considered valid under this section, must have been performed substantially according to approved by the Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services. For this purpose, the department is authorized to approve satisfactory techniques or methods. Any insubstantial differences between approved techniques and actual testing procedures in any individual case shall not render the test or test results invalid.

(emphasis supplied).

Neither section conditions admissibility of breath test results upon the facial validity of the H.R.S. rules or upon the manner in which the rules enacted. The breath tests are conducted by law enforcement agencies, not H.R.S. Moreover, section 316.1932(1)(f)(1) confirms that the substantial requirement applies to law enforcement in administering the tests rather than to H.R.S. in enacting rules:

The tests determining the weight of alcohol in the defendant's blood shall be administered at the request of a law enforcement officer substantially in accordance with rules and regulations which shall have adopted by the Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services. . .

(emphasis supplied).

Clearly then, whether there is substantial compliance with the rules in the administration or performance of the tests in an issue relevant only to the manner in which the tests are conducted by the police agencies.

While the county court had jurisdiction to determine whether there was substantial compliance by law enforcement with the rules of H.R.S. and relates statutes, it had none to entertain an attack upon the rules themselves. It is because the circuit courts are both constitutionally and statutorily vested with jurisdiction to entertain initially or upon review challenges to administrative rules that "the determination of whether a particular controversy may be taken out of the administrative process and into a circuit court is a question of judicial policy and not a matter of judicial jurisdiction." Key Haven Associated Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of Trustees, 427 So.2d 153 (Fla. 1982). The same is not true of the county courts because under no circumstances do they have subject matter jurisdiction to consider direct attacks on administrative rules.

There is an "age-old rule that a court may not in any case, even in the interest of justice, extend its jurisdiction where none exists. . ." Christianson v. Colt Industries Operating Corp., 486 U.S. 800, 108 S.Ct. 2166, 2178, 100 L.Ed.2d 811

(1988). "While perhaps tempted to address the merits, [the county court should not have done so] it is fundamental principle of law that if a court is without jurisdiction, it has no power to adjudicate or determine any issue or cause submitted to it." Capricorn Marble Company v. George Hyman Construction Co., 462 So.2d 1208 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985) (citation omitted).

exhaust administrative Petitioner has also failed to established that been remedies. Ιt has long administrative remedy is provided by statute, relief must be sought by exhausting this remedy before the court will act." Halifax Area Council on Alcoholism v. City of Daytona Beach, 385 So.2d 184, 186 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (emphasis added) (citations omitted): see also Brooks v. School Board of Brevard County,, 382 So.2d 422 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980); Orange County, Florida v. Game and Fresh Water Fish Commission, 397 So.2d 411 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Criterion Insurance Co. v. State of Florida, Department of Insurance, 458 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984); Gulf Coast Home Health Services of Florida, Inc. v. State of Florida, Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services, 513 So.2d 704 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987); City of Deland v. Lowe, 544 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 5th DCA Moreover, "[w]hen the facial unconstitutionality of an agency rule is the focus of an aggrieved party's constitutional claim, the administrative proceedings must be exhausted and the Key Haven Associated claim presented to the district court." Enterprises, Inc. v. Board of Trustees of the International Trust Fund et. al., 427 So.2d 153, 157 (Fla. 1982).

Thus, the county court erred in considering the sufficiency of the HRS rules, because exhaustion of administrative remedies before obtaining judicial review is mandatory.

Even if the county court had discretion to consider the challenge advanced below, its ruling represents an abuse of discretion. First, exhaustion of administrative remedies is in accordance with the provisions of the Administrative Procedure Second, Petitioner would not be prejudiced by following the administrative course. Although the trials would be delayed beyond the usual 90 day period, the defendants are not forced to sacrifice speedy trial rights. See Fla.R.Crim.P. their 3.191(d)(2). Third, it can hardly be agreed that the methods employed by the Petitioner are more judicially economical. in a very narrow and short term view it would appear more economical, in the larger scheme of things it is anything but There are 67 counties in the state. There are economical. hundreds of sitting county court judges. When the total number of those judges is multiplied by the number of driving under the influence cases that involve breath testing machines, it is clear that thousands of challenges are possible with possibly hundreds of differing conclusions reached by the assorted county court A determination that judicial economy is served by proceeding in the instant fashion is refuted by the sheer number of cases which are now before the courts as a result of various rulings.

It is far more judicially economical to require initial presentation of such claims to H.R.S. One consistent

interpretation will be rendered by the agency for judicial evaluation. Assuming that judicial review is sought, at most there will be five different rationales because the legislature has limited judicial review of this sort to the district courts of appeal. The long term efficacy of requiring exhaustion of administrative remedies was explained this way:

[A]gency review of a constitutional attack upon one of its rules affords the agency the opportunity of modifying its should it appear necessary or desirable do thus to 50 perhaps eliminating the need for further litigation or administrative hearing regarding the rule.

Occidental Chemical Agricultural Products, Inc. v. State of Florida, Department of Environmental Regulation, 501 So.2d 67 678 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).16

Petitioner may, counter that procedures for monthly and annual checks for testing of the intoxilyzers have statewide application and thus meet the definition of a "rule" as that term is defined in Section 120.52.16, Florida Statutes, and Department of Transportation v. Blackhawk Quarry Co. 528 So.2d 447 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 536 So.2d 243 (Fla. 1988).

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